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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERlCA, Civil No.-----

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GoLoansOnline.com, Inc., a corporation, 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT FOR CIVIL PENAJ.JTIES, INJUNCTIVE, 
AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the United' States of America, acting upon notification and authorization· to the 

Attorney General by the Federal Trade Commission ("Commission"), by its und~rsigned 

attorneys, for its Complaint alleges as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This is an action arising under Sections 5(a), S(m)(l)(A), 13(b), and 16(a) ofthe 

Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(l)(A), 53(b), and 56(a); 

the 2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act, Public Law 111-8, 123 Stat. 524, 678 (Mar. 11, 2009) 

("Omnibus Act"), as clarified by Section 511 of the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility 

and Disclosure Act of2009, Public Law 111-24, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 22, 2009) 

("Credit Card Act"), and amended by Section 1097 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 

Consumer Protection Act, Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376,2101-03. (July 21, 2010) ("Dodd-

Frank Act"), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, to obtain civil penalties, injunctive relief, and other equitable 
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relief for violations of Section 5 of the FTC Act, the Mortgage Acts and Practices - Advertising 

rule ("MAP Rule"), 16 C.F .R. Part 321, recodified as the Mortgage Acts and Practices -

Advertising rule ("Regulation N"), 12 C.P.R. Part 1014; and the Truth In Lending Act ("TILN'), 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1666j, and its implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. Parts 226 and 1026, by 

Defendant. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.<;;. §§ 1331, 1337(a), 

1345, and 1355; under 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b); and under Section 626 ofthe 

Omnibus Act, as clarified by Section 511 of the Credit Card Act, and amended by Section 1097 

of the Dodd-Frank Act. 

3. Venue is properin this District under 28 U.S. C. §§ l391(b)-(c), 1395(a), and 15 

u.s.c. § 53(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. This action 1s brought by the United States of America on behalf of the Federal 

Trade Commission. The Commission is an independent agency of the United States government 

given statutory authority and responsibility by the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. 

The Commission enforces Section 5(a) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair 

or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. Pursuant to the Omnibus Act, § 626,·as 

clarified by the Credit Card Act, § 511, the Commission promulgated the MAP Rule, 16 C.P.R. 

Part 321, effective August 19,2011, which, among other things, prohibits misleading or 

deceptive commercial communications relating to mortgage credit products. On December 16, 

2011, the MAP Rule was recodified as 12 C.P.R. Part 1014, effective Dec. 30, 2011, and 

designated as "Regulation N." Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act§ 1097, the FTC retains 
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authority to enforce the MAP Rule and Regulation N. The FTC also enforces TILA, 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1601-1666j, and its implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. Parts 226 and 1026. 

DEFENDANT 

5. Defendant GoLoansOnline.com, Inc., also doing business as 

www.fhamortgage.co~, www.fha.com, and www.fhaloan.com ("GoLoans"), is a Texas 

corporation with its principal place ofbusiness at 707 Woodcastle Bend, Houston, Texas 77094. 

GoLoans transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. At 

all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, GoLoans has 

advertised, marketed, distributed, or sold mortgage credit products to consumers throughout the 

United States. GoLoans is a "person" as defined by the MAP Rule, Regulation N, and 

Regulation Z. 16 C.P.R.§ 321.2(f), 12 C.P.R.§§ 1014.2, 226.2(a)(22), 1026.2(a)(22). 

COMMERCE 

6. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendant has maintained a substantial 

course of trade in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 oftheFTC Act, 

15 u.s.c. § 44. 

DEFENDANT'S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

7. Since at least August 19, 2011, Defendant has advertised "m?rtgage credit 

products." The MAP Rule and Regulation N define "mortgage credit product" as "any form of 

credit that is secured by real property or a d'Yelling and that is offered or extended to a consumer 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes." 16 C.P.R. § 321.2(e), 12 C.P.R. § 1014.2. 

8. Defendant has advertised mortgage credit products through web sites that it has 

operated, including www.fhamortgage.com, www.fha.com, and www.fhaloan.com. Since at 
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least August 19, 2011, Defendant has made numerous commercial communications offering 

materially different interest rates for mortgage credit products. 

9. In numerous instances, Defendant has advertised low, fixed rates for mortgage 

credit products to generate potential borrowers for third parties such as mortgage brokers, 

lenders, and "lead brokers/' or companies that resell the potential borrowers as "leads" to 

other third parties. Some of Defendant's advertisements include the statements "No Credit 

Check" and "No Social Security Number Required" on the same webpage. For example, on 

www.fhamortgage.com, Defendant has displayed: 

Low F~iA Fixed Rates 2.25o/o 
Low Rates. Free Quotes. No Hidden Costst 

and: 
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10. In numerous instances, ~onsumers have been matched with mortgage'brokers, 

mortgage lenders, or lead brokers who did not provide mortgage credit products with the 

advertised terms. Specifically, the rate advertised as a "fixed" rate mortgage has actually 

corresponded to an adjustable rate mortgage for which the interest rate varies each month and the 

minimum payment varies each year. 

11. In numerous instances, the phrase "Adjustable-Rate Mortgage," "Variable-Rate 

Mortgage," or "ARM'' has not appeared at all in these advertisements, or not as conspicuously as 

the word "fixed." Additionally, each use of the word "fixed" is not accompanied by an equally 

prominent and closely proximate statement of the time period for which the rate is fixed, and the 

fact that the rate may vary or the payment may increase after that period. 

12. In numerous instances, Defendant's websites have advertised a rate of finance 

charge without disclosing that rate as an annual percentage rate, using that term or the 

abbreviation "APR," and, if the annual percentage rate may be increased after consummation, 

that fact. 

13. In numerous instances, Defendant's websites have advertised a payment amount 

including, "$250,000 home loan for $987/mo.," without stating: (i) the tenus of repayment, 

which reflect the repayment obligations over the full term of the loan, including any balloon 

payment, and (ii) the annual percentage rate and if the rate may be increased after consummation. 

14. In numerous instances, Defendant's websites have included contact fonns where a 

potential borrower can enter his or her personal contact infonnation, which is then transmitted 

directly to third-party lead brokers. For example, consumers have provided their first and last 

names, the type of mortgage credit product needed, the requested loan amount, and a credit 

rating. Defendant has been compensated by the third-party lead brokers who gather the 
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consumer information. In some instances, Defendant's compensation has been on a commission 

basis, where Defendant has received a percentage of the revenue ultimately generated by the 

thirdwparty lead broker. In other instances, Defendant has been compensated based on the 

number of completed consumer forms gathered by the third party. 

15. On its websites, Defendant also has displayed a toll-free telephone number-for 

consumers to call. When consumers have called this phone number, they were connected with 

third-party mortgage brokers, lenders, or lead brokers. Defendant has been compensated for 

these phone calls by receiving a flat fee for each call that was over 1 .5 minutes. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT 

16. Section 5(a) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits "unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in or affecting commerce." 

17. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute deceptive 

acts or practices prohibited by Section S(a) of the FTC Act. 

COUNT I 

18. In numerous instances, through the means described in Paragraphs 7-15, 

Defendant has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

Defendant or its affiliated third-party purchasers would provide a mortgage credit product 

with a low, fixed interest rate or fixed mo.nthly payment, such as a fixed rate of2.25%. 

19. In truth and in fact, in many instances, neither Defendant nor its affiliated third-

party purchasers provided consumers with mortgage credit products for the low, fixed interest 

rate or fixed monthly payment advertised in Defendant's commercial communications, such as a 

fixed rate of 2.25%. Therefore, Defendant's representations as set forth in Paragraph 18 are false 

6 



Case 4:14-cv-01262   Document 1   Filed in TXSD on 05/07/14   Page 7 of 14

or misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE MAP RULE 

20. In July 2011, the FTC issued the MAP Rule, 16 C.P.R. Part 321, which 

became effective on August 19, 2011, and which prohibited deceptive claims in mortgage 

advertising. The MAP Rule was subsequently recodified as Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. Part 

1014, which became effective Dec. 30,2011. 

21. The MAP Rule and Regulation N define "commercial communication" as "any 

written or oral statement, illustration, or depiction ... that is designed to effect a sale or create 

interest in purchasing goods or services, whether it appears on or in a label, package, package 

insert, radio, television, cable television, brochure, newspaper, magazine, pamphlet, leaflet, 

circular, mailer, book insert, free .standing insert, letter, catalogue, poster, chart, billboard, public 

transit card, point of purchase display, film, slide, audio program transmitted over a telephone 

system, telemarketing script, on-hold script, upsell script, training materials provided to 

telemarketing firms, program-length commercial (''infomercial"), the interne~, cellular 

network, or any other medhun." 16 C.P.R. § 321.2(a), 12 C.P.R. § 1014.2. 

22. The MAP Rule and Regulation N define a "person" as "any individual, group, 

unincorporated association, limited or general partnership, corporation, or other business entity." 

16 C.P.R.§ 321.2(£), 12 C.P.R.§ 1014.2. 

23. The MAP Rule and Regulation N define "term" as "any of the fees, costs, 

obligations, or characteristics of or associated with the product. It also includes any of the 

conditions on or related to the availability of the product." 16 C.P.R. § 321.2(g), 12 C.P.R. 

§ 1014.2. 
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24. The MAP Rule and Regulation N prohibit any person making a commercial 

communication concerning a mortgage credit product from making certain materially misleading 

representations, including but not limited to misrepresenting the variability of interest, payments, 

or other terms of the mortgage credit product, including falsely representing that an interest rate 

is "fixed." 16 C.P.R.§ 321.3(g), 12 C.P.R.§ 1014.3(g). 

25. Pursuant to § 626 of the Omnibus Act, as cl:arified by§ 511 of the Credit Card 

Act, and as amended by§ 1097 of the Dodd-Frank Act, and pursuant to Section 18(d)(3) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57a(d)(3), a violation ofthe MAP Rule constitutes an unfair or deceptive 

act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

COUNT II 

26. In numerous instances, in its commercial communications concerning mortgage 

credit products, Defendant has misrepresented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 

the variability of interest rates, monthly payments, or other terms of the mortgage credit product, 

including falsely representing that an advertised interest rate is a "fixed" rate mortgage credit 

product. 

27. Defendant's representations, as set forth in Paragraph 26 of this Complaint, are 

material misrepresentations in violation of multiple provisions ofthe MAP Rule and Regulation 

N. 16 C.P.R.§ 321.3(g) and (q), 12 C.P.R.§ 1014.3(g) and (q). 

VIOLATIONS OF TILA AND REGULATION Z 

28. Under TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1666j, and Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. Part 226, 12 

C.P.R. Part 1026, persons who advertise "closed-end credit," as defined in 12 C.P.R. 
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§ 226.2(a)(l 0) and 12 C.P.R. § 1 026.2(a)(l 0), must comply with the applicable provisions of 

TILA and Regulation Z, including but not limited to 12 C.P.R.§ 226.24 and 12 C.P.R.§ 

1026.24. 

29. "Credit" is defined as "the right to defer payment of debt or to incur debt and 

defer its payment." 12 C.P.R.§ 226.2(a)(14), 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.2(a)(14). 

30. "Closed-end credit" is defined as "consumer credit other than open-end credit." 

"Open-end credit" is defined as "consumer credit extended by a creditor under a plan in which: 

(i) The creditor reasonably contemplates repeated transactions; (ii) The creditor may impose a 

finance charge from time to time on an outstanding unpaid balance; and (iii) The amount of 

credit that may be extended to the consumer during the term of the plan (up to any limit set by 

the creditor) is generally made available to the extent that any outstanding balance is repaid." 12 

C.P.R.§ 226.2(a)(10) and (20), 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.2(a)(l0) and (20). 

31. Regulation Z defines a ''person)' as "a natural person or an organization, including 

a corporation, partnership, proprietorship, association, cooperative, estate, trust, or government 

unit." 12 C.P.R. § 226.2(a)(22), 12 C.P.R. § 1026.2(a)(22). 

32. TILA authorizes Plaintiff and the Commission to seek civil penalties for violation 

ofSection226.24(i) of Regulation Z at 12 C.P.R.§ 226.24(i) and 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.24(i) of 

Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.24(i). 15 U.S.C. § 1639(q). 

33. Pursuant to TILA, a violation ofTILA constitutes a violation of the FTC Act. 

15 U.S.C. § 1607(c). 

COUNT III 

34. In numerous instances, through the means described in Paragraphs 7-15, 

Defendant has advertised closed-end credit to consumers by disseminating advertisements for 
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mortgage loans, including, but not limited to, advertisements for "2.25 % fixed" rate mortgages. 
·~ 

In credit advertisements, Defendant has: 

a. . Advertised credit terms other than those terms that actually are or will be 

arranged or offered by the creditor, in violation of Section 142 of TILA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1662(1), Section 226.24(a) of Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. § 

226.24(a), Section 1026.24(a) ofRegulationZ, 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.24(a); 

b.· Advertised a rate of finance charge without disclosing that rate as an 

annual percentage rate, using that term or the abbreviation "APR," and, if 

the annual percentage rate may be increased after consummation, that fact, 

in violation of Section 144(c) ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1664(c), Section 

226.24(c) of Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 226.24(c), Section 1026.24(c) of 

Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. § 1026.24(c); 

c. Advertised a payment amount without disclosing: (i) the terms of 

repayment, which reflect the repayment obligations over the full term of 

the loan, including any balloon payment; and (ii) the annual percentage 

rate, using that term or the abbreviation "APR," and, if the annual 

percentage rate may be increased after consummation, that fact, in 

violation of Section 144(d) ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1664(d), Section 

226.24(d) of Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 226.24(d), Section 1026.24(d) of 

Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.24(d); and 

d. Used the word "fixed" in advertisements for variable-rate mortgages 

where: (i) the phrase "Adjustable-Rate Mortgage," "Variable-Rate 

Mortgage," or "ARM" does not appear at all in the advertisement, or not 
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as conspicuously as the word "fixed;" and (ii) each use of the word 

"fixed" is not accompanied by an equally prominent and closely proximate 

statement of the time period for which the payment is fixed, and the fact 

that the rate may vary after that period, in violation of Section 226.24(i) of 

Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 226.24(i), Section 1026.24(i) ofRegulation Z, 

12 C.P.R. § l026.24(i). 

35. Defendant's acts and practices, as set forth in Paragraph 34, violate TILA and 

Regulation Z. By engaging in violations of the TILA and Regulation Z, Defendant also has 

violated the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. § 1607(c). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

36. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result 

of Defendant's violations of the FTC Act, the MAP Rule, and TILA. In addition, Defendant has 

been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by 

this C01:ut, Defendant is likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm 

the public interest. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

37. Section 13(b) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court 

to issue a permanent injunction to ensure that Defendant will not continue to violate the FTC 

Act, the MAP Rule, Regulation N, TILA, and Regulation z. 

38. Defendant violated the MAP Rule and Regulation N, and Section 226.24(i) of 

Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 226.24(i), Section 1026.24(i) ofRegulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.24(i), 

as described above, with actual knowledge or knowledge fairly implied on the basis of objective 
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circumstances, as set forth in Section 5(m)(l)(A) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S. C.§ 45(m)(l)(A) and 

15 u.s.c. § 1639(g). 

3 9. Each instance since August 19, 2011, in which Defendant failed to comply with 

the MAP Rule and Regulation N, and Section 226.24(i) of Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. § 226.24(i), 

Section 1026.24(i) ofRegulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.24(i), in one or more ofthe ways 

described above, constitutes a separate violation for which Plaintiff seeks monetary civil 

penalties. 

40. Section 5(m)(l)(A) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(m)(l)(A), Section 129(q) of 

TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1639(q), and Section4 ofthe Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment 

Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, as amended, authorizes this Court to award monetary civil 

penalties of not more than $16,000 for each violation ofthe MAP Rule and Regulation N, and of 

Section226.24(i) of Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. § 226.24(i), Sectionl026.24(i) ofRegulation Z, 12 

C.P.R. § 1 026.24(i). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

41. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff United States of America, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), the Omnibus Act, and the Court's own equitable powers, respectfully 

requests that the Court: 

a. Enter a judgment against Defendant and in favor of Plaintiff for each law 

violation alleged in this Complaint; 

b. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act, 

the MAP Rule, Regulation N, TILA, and Regulation Z by Defendant; 

c. Award Plaintiff monetary civil penalties for each violation of the MAP 

Rule and Regulation N, and of Section 226.24(i) ofRegulation Z, 12 
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C.F.R. § 226.24(i), Section 1026.24(i) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1 026.24(i); and 

d. A ward Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 
FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

/6//1~-
Michelle Grajales ~ 
YaaApori 
F~deral Trade Commission 
601 New Jersey Ave., NW 
Mail Drop NJ-3158 
Washington, DC 20001 
(202) 326-3172, (202) 326-3796 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
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FOR THE PLAINTIFF 
FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 

STUART F. DELERY 
Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Division 

MAAME EW USI-MENSAH FRIMPONG 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Division 

MICHAEL S. BLUME 
Director 
Consumer P rotection Branch 

ANDREW E. CLARK 
Assistant Director 
Consumer Protection Branch 
U.S. Department of Justice 
P.O. Box386 
W ashington, D.C. 20044 
PHONE: 202-307-2532 
FAX: 202-514-8742 
Andrew.Clark@usdoj.gov 

/fAMESHARLOW 
Trial Attorney 
Consumer Protection Branch 
U.S. Departmen t ofJustice 
P.O. Bo x. 386 . 
Washington, D.C. 20044 
PHONE: 202-5 14-6786 
FAX: 202-5 1.4-8742 
]ames.W.Harlow@usdoj.gov 
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